



AYAN GORAN, LAURA TATUM, CARA BRUMFIELD, & AILEEN CARR

Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality

The Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality (GCPI) works to alleviate poverty and inequality, advance racial and gender equity, and expand economic inclusion for everyone in the U.S. through rigorous research, analysis, and ambitious policy ideas.

Our team develops and advances forward-thinking policy ideas applicable to today's most pressing problems facing people of color and people with low incomes. Our ideas—which are backed by rigorous research and analysis and rooted in the lived experiences of people experiencing poverty—focus on: tax and income supports, jobs and education, health and human services, and census and data justice.

For more information, visit <u>www.georgetownpoverty.org</u>. Please refer any questions and comments to <u>povertyinequalitycenter@georgetown.edu</u>.

Copyright Creative Commons (cc) 2023 by Ayan Goran, Laura Tatum, Cara Brumfield, and Aileen Carr.

Notice of rights: This report has been published under a Creative Commons license. This work may be copied, redistributed, or displayed by anyone, provided that proper attribution is given and that the adaptation also carries a Creative Commons license. Commercial use of this work is disallowed.



SUGGESTED CITATION

Ayan Goran, Laura Tatum, Cara Brumfield, and Aileen Carr. "Re-Envisioning Medicaid & CHIP as Anti-Racist Programs." Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, June 2023. Available at georgetownpoverty.org/issues/re-envisioning-medicaid-chip-as-anti-racist-programs/.

Re-Envisioning Medicaid & CHIP as Anti-Racist Programs

AYAN GORAN, LAURA TATUM, CARA BRUMFIELD, & AILEEN CARR

JUNE 2023



Acknowledgments & Disclosures

We thank Isabella Camacho-Craft and Hailey Joyce Padua for editing and design support, and Alfredo Dominguez, Sierra Wilson, and Rocio Perez for research and writing assistance. We are grateful to Adiam Tesfaselassie for her leadership on expert engagement for this project.

We appreciate the generous assistance and insights shared by the following individuals, who provided valuable consultations and/or reviewed a draft of this report: Eva Allen, Katie Beckmann, Rosa Campos, Vivian Cativo, Dr. Nathan Chomilo, Felix Hernandez, Veronica Hernandez, Dr. Maria Marquez, Dr. Jamila Michener, Natasha Murphy, Dr. Chima Ndumele, Whitney Noel, Dr. Hank Puls, Sara Rosenbaum, Kima Taylor, and Suzanne Wikle.

Thanks to Jay Christian Design for the design and layout of this report.

Any errors of fact or interpretation remain the authors'. We are grateful to the David and Lucile Packard Foundation and the Heising-Simons Foundation for their support of this report. The views expressed are those of the GCPI authors and should not be attributed to our advisors or funders. Funders do not affect research findings or the insights and recommendations of GCPI.



Contents

ntroduction	
Background	5
Compromises with Southern States Curtailed Medicaid's Impact	5
CHIP's Temporary, Capped Funding Structure Limits Its Impact	6
Systemic Racism in Medicaid & CHIP	8
State-Level Racism Blocks Millions from Coverage	8
Medicaid's Limitations Exacerbate Racial Disparities in Quality of Care & Health Outcomes	10
Medicaid & CHIP Policies Create Unnecessary Eligibility & Administrative Barriers	
for People of Color	12
A New Vision for Medicaid & CHIP to Advance Racial Justice	14
Address Inequitable Coverage	15
Bridge Racial Disparities in Quality of Care & Health Outcomes	16
Expand Eligibility & Alleviate Administrative Burdens	17
Principles to Center & Empower Program Participants & Their Communities	21
Participant-Centered Accountability	21
Power-sharing with Community-Based Organizations	22
Resources for Community-Based Organizations	22
Conclusion	23
Endnotes	24





Introduction

acial and ethnic disparities in the American health care system have long impeded our nation's health and well-being. For everyone in the United States to achieve their full potential—and for our nation to achieve its full potential—we must ensure that every person, regardless of racial identity or economic status, has equitable access to health care.

Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)—government programs that provide health insurance for adults with low incomes and their children—have significantly decreased racial disparities in health and health care and have brought access and coverage to millions who would be otherwise uninsured or underinsured.¹ As of February 2023, over 93 million people—more than one-fifth of the U.S. population—are enrolled in these programs, making Medicaid and CHIP the largest health insurers in the country.² Medicaid and CHIP are the primary providers of health care for people with low incomes.³,⁴ Participants are disproportionately people of color, who are more likely to be employed in low-paid jobs that do not offer private health insurance.⁵

To create an effective, equitable health care system, policymakers must address stark racial disparities in coverage, racial disparities in quality of care and health outcomes, and unnecessarily burdensome application and re-enrollment processes and restricted eligibility.^{6,7} If the programs evolved to purposefully address structural racism, as discussed in this report, Medicaid and CHIP would help create a health care system that works for all.ⁱ

i This report addresses selected racial inequity problems and proposes selected recommendations to advance racial equity within the Medicaid and CHIP programs. The report does not aim to be comprehensive.



This report, developed with the input of health equity experts and practitioners, puts forth an anti-racist re-imagining of Medicaid and CHIP that actively reckons with the racist history of the Medicaid program and offers recommendations that capitalize on the transformative potential of the programs. To transform Medicaid and CHIP into programs that work to redress racist harms and advance racial equity, program participants must be valued as co-creators of an anti-racist future. In addition to recommendations, this report also offers principles to guide anti-racist policy transformations. The principles center the voices and agency of program participants and prioritize direct community involvement at all stages of the policy process.

The Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality recommends re-envisioning Medicaid and CHIP to advance racial equity through policy changes that:

- 1. Address inequitable coverage;
- 2. Bridge racial disparities in quality of care and health outcomes; and
- 3. Expand eligibility and alleviate administrative burdens.

The need for this re-envisioning is particularly evident as the implications of the federal COVID-19 public health emergency (PHE) expiration in May 2023 become increasingly apparent. An estimated 18 million individuals could lose Medicaid coverage due to the expiration of the PHE and other temporary Medicaid policies.⁸ This expiration, which coincides with the publication date of this report, will disproportionately affect children and young adult participants (ages 18-34), of whom 34 percent are Latinx and 15 percent are Black.⁹ Policymakers should mitigate massive losses in coverage for an estimated 17 percent of Medicaid and CHIP-eligible individuals.^{10, 11, 12}



Background

From inception, the full reach and impact of Medicaid and CHIP were curtailed by racialized political resistance to Medicaid and by limitations in the programs' policy designs. To re-envision Medicaid and CHIP as anti-racist programs, it is necessary to understand Medicaid's history, which is steeped in structural racism, and the programs' policy designs, which prevent them from fully addressing racial disparities in coverage, access, and outcomes.

Compromises With Southern States Curtailed Medicaid's Impact

Medicaid's design was the product of conflicting political sensibilities concerning how to address the health needs of people with low incomes, many of whom were people of color.¹³ Medicaid's predecessor, created by the Kerr-Mills Act of 1960, was a poorly-funded, voluntary health coverage program. States were allowed to opt out and were granted wide discretion in setting eligibility standards. Many states—particularly Southern states with large percentages of Black residents—opted out or excluded people in need of coverage.¹⁴ In fact, the often-called "Black Belt" states (Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana, Tennessee, Mississippi, Alabama, Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, and North Carolina) accounted for only 3.3 percent of all Kerr-Mills participants.^{15, 16} During this period, the country's elderly population and medical costs were both on the rise, and a clear need for increased options for affordable health insurance emerged.¹⁷ In 1965, in an attempt to meet this need, President Lyndon B. Johnson established both Medicaid and Medicare under the Social Security Act.¹⁸

As noted by its architect, Wilbur Cohen, Medicaid originated from discussions about the need to provide medical insurance to key populations with low incomes to lessen the incentive to expand the federal Medicare program.¹⁹ Southern states, Cohen anticipated, would be especially resistant to and wary of what they perceived as federal overreach due to recent civil rights legislation. As a compromise, Medicaid was designed to be a state-run program, granting states flexibility and control over their respective health care systems and limiting federal involvement.²⁰

Cohen, and Medicaid's other founders, were concerned that Medicaid being state-run would curtail its ability to adequately meet the care needs of underserved people—understandably so, as Kerr-Mills, a state-run voluntary program, had an ineffective, limited reach.²¹ Cohen envisioned a Medicaid program that would continue to expand, not a program that restricted access to a subset of the so-called "deserving poor."²² In an effort to avoid the shortcomings of its predecessor, the Medicaid program included a provision that would require states to ensure that all individuals who met Medicaid's eligibility requirements would receive comprehensive care and services within 17 years. However, following pressure from New York Governor Nelson Rockefeller, this provision was removed in 1972, just seven years later.²³

In Medicaid's early years, access was tied to the receipt of Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) and other existing federal benefits, including "Old Age Assistance" and "Aid to the Totally and Permanently Disabled," which would evolve into Supplemental Security Income (SSI).²⁴ From its very inception, Medicaid quietly inherited the racist, sexist narratives of deservingness that legislated eligibility for pre-existing public benefits programs.^{25, 26}

CHIP's Temporary, Capped Funding Structure Limits Its Impact

The Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), a federal-state partnership program, was created in 1997 to provide a health insurance option for children in families with low and moderate incomes above the Medicaid eligibility threshold.²⁷ Far more people enroll in Medicaid than CHIP, but CHIP's targeted focus has made a considerable impact in reducing the number of uninsured children in the U.S.²⁸ From 1997 to 2018, the rate of uninsured children decreased from 14.2 percent to 5.5 percent.²⁹ By 2000, all states and the District of Columbia had implemented CHIP coverage systems, and by 2020, the number of uninsured children dropped precipitously from 10 million children to 3.6 million children.^{30, 31}

Altogether, more than half of children in the U.S. receive their health coverage from Medicaid or CHIP.³² The majority of Black, Latinx, and American Indian or Native Alaskan children access health care using Medicaid and CHIP as of 2020.³³ Many more children of color are eligible for CHIP but are not enrolled, often due to their families being unaware of the child's eligibility status or other obstacles, such as language barriers and complexities in the enrollment process.³⁴

The funding structure of the CHIP program limits its ability to consistently support all eligible children. Medicaid is jointly funded by federal and state governments with no pre-set restrictions or enrollment caps; every individual who qualifies is entitled to coverage under the program.³⁵ In contrast, federal funding for CHIP is temporary (requiring periodic reauthorization) and has an annual cap. States can employ waiting periods and enrollment caps to restrict spending, and all eligible individuals are not entitled to coverage. This limits CHIP's ability to respond to changes in need, such as those brought on by economic and public health crises like the COVID-19



pandemic.³⁶ Participants are harmed by the limitations of this funding structure, as they—particularly participants of color—are more likely to shoulder the negative impacts of financial and health crises.^{37, 38}

While the Affordable Care Act (ACA) limited CHIP waiting periods to fewer than 90 days and introduced federally required exemptions (such as job loss), nine states continue to employ CHIP waiting periods in some capacity.³⁹ The nine states with CHIP waiting periods as of April 2023 are Arizona, Arkansas, Florida, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, South Dakota, Texas, and Utah.⁴⁰ Waiting periods are a costly, inefficient, and ineffective use of state administrative resources, and they can harm children's health and development.⁴¹

Further, states that operate separate CHIP programs are allowed to "lock out" children from receiving benefits for a period of up to 90 days for nonpayment of premiums, contributing to periods of uninsurance for children in need of coverage. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) noted the particular impact of lock-out periods on people of color in its proposed rule to streamline Medicaid and CHIP, writing "lock-out periods disproportionately affect non-White populations compared to White populations, which may further exacerbate existing disparities in health outcomes."



Systemic Racism in Medicaid & CHIP

Ibram X. Kendi defines a racist policy as "any measure that produces or sustains racial inequity between racial groups." Conversely, an anti-racist policy is "any measure that produces or sustains racial equity between racial groups." It is impossible for a policy to be race-neutral; every law, process, and procedure functions to either uphold or combat racial inequity. Systemic racism manifests in the Medicaid program in many forms, and the policy designs of the Medicaid and CHIP programs fail to fully address racialized issues of inequitable coverage, disparities in quality of care and health outcomes, and eligibility and administrative barriers.

State-Level Racism Blocks Millions From Coverage

The Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA) required states to expand their Medicaid programs and provide coverage to all non-elderly adults under 138 percent of the federal poverty line, but the Supreme Court effectively made expansion a state option with the *National Federation of Independent Business v. Sebelius* decision in 2012.⁴⁷ Prior to the ACA, the only non-elderly adults who could be eligible for Medicaid were pregnant people and people who had very low incomes and dependent children, though some states covered adults without children through demonstration projects.⁴⁸ The ACA expansion, funded with federal dollars, has allowed states to cover adults with low incomes without children as well as other adults with dependent children who had formerly been excluded by income eligibility thresholds.^{49,50} From 2014 to 2023, 40 states and the District of Columbia opted to expand their Medicaid programs,⁵¹ helping an estimated 19 million people gain health coverage and leading to historic reductions in disparities in coverage between people of color and white people.^{52,53}

8

ii In 2022, 138 percent of the federal poverty line for an individual was \$18,754; for a household of 4, it was \$38,295. (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services).

As of March 2023, approximately 1.9 million adults with incomes below the poverty line but above their state's eligibility level are excluded from Medicaid in the 10 remaining non-expansion states. These adults exist in a "coverage gap" because their states have chosen not to expand Medicaid coverage. These individuals earn too little to qualify for subsidized health insurance options through the ACA marketplace yet they also do not qualify for Medicaid. In states that have not expanded Medicaid programs, the eligibility criteria for adults are extremely limiting—the median income cap for parents in 2023 is 38 percent of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL) or an annual income of \$9,447 for a family of three.

People in the Medicaid coverage gap are disproportionately people of color. In 2021, 61 percent of the people in the coverage gap were people of color, though people of color only make up 41 percent of the adult, non-elderly population in non-expansion states.^{56,57} Individuals in the coverage gap were largely Black and Latinx, with each group constituting 28 percent of the total number of individuals in the coverage gap.⁵⁸

Many Southern state legislatures have refused to expand their Medicaid programs. As a result, the vast majority—97 percent—of people in the coverage gap live in Southern states, and these states have the most severe racial disparities in access for people of color.^{59,60} For example, in 2019, over 70 percent of Asian adults in the coverage gap and 88 percent of Latinx adults in the coverage gap were living in Florida and Texas.⁶¹ These racial disparities should be addressed by federal action.^{62,63}

FIGURE 1. Majority of Individuals in the Coverage Gap Live in Southern States

Number of Uninsured Non-Elderly Adults in the Coverage Gap, Based on 2023 Medicaid Eligibility Levels

All States Not Expanding Medicaid	Total Uninsured Non-Elderly Adults	Uninsured Non-Elderly Adults in the Coverage Gap
TOTAL	3,470,000	1,901,000
Alabama	219,000	128,000
Florida	726,000	388,000
Georgia	434,000	252,000
Kansas	82,000	44,000
Mississippi	147,000	88,000
South Carolina	166,000	94,000
Tennessee	218,000	124,000
Texas	1,435,000	772,000
Wisconsin	23,000	0
Wyoming	20,000	10,000

Note: Wisconsin's Medicaid program covers all non-immigrant and "qualified immigrant" documented non-elderly adults with incomes under the poverty level.

Source: Adapted from KFF analysis of 2023 Medicaid eligibility levels and 20211-year American Community Survey data.

Research has demonstrated that Medicaid expansion decisions are associated with state-level racism:^{64,65} lower levels of racial sympathy and higher levels of racial resentment are correlated with greater resistance to Medicaid expansion.⁶⁶ Governors who expand Medicaid are more likely to be praised by their constituents when the state's Medicaid program serves a larger white participant population.⁶⁷ Any equitable re-imagining of Medicaid and CHIP must account for the "racialized political realities" that prevent people of color from receiving necessary coverage and must address these realities with anti-racist solutions.⁶⁸

The racist, negative effects of the coverage gap are made more acute during economic and public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. The reach of systemic racism goes beyond the health care system and affects access to employment, housing, transportation, and more. People of color faced higher risks of COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, and death than white people.⁶⁹ These risks are heightened by the racial disparities in the coverage gap.

Medicaid's Limitations Exacerbate Racial Disparities in Quality of Care & Health Outcomes

Low Medicaid reimbursement rates, racial segregation in nursing facilities, and limited maternal and infant coverage exacerbate well-established racial disparities in quality of care.^{70, 71} These structural issues and unequal quality of care lead to poorer health outcomes experienced by people of color.

LOW REIMBURSEMENT RATES

Medicaid's low reimbursement rates mean that costs for health providers and institutions to care for Medicaid participants are often higher than the amounts they receive in reimbursement⁷² which harms access to care for Medicaid participants—who are disproportionately people of color.⁷³ The Medicaid statute requires states to pay rates sufficient to ensure equal access for program participants, but Medicaid physician fees are well below Medicare⁷⁴ and private insurance fees.⁷⁵ On average, Medicaid fee-for-service physician payment rates are two-thirds of Medicare rates.⁷⁶ In turn, physicians are less likely to accept new patients insured by Medicaid (74.3 percent) than patients with Medicare (87.8 percent) or private insurance (96.1 percent).⁷⁷

Low Medicaid reimbursement rates disproportionately harm people of color. According to research from Cornell University:

"Disproportionality, or 'the way policies differentially allocate benefits and burdens to racial groups,' is apparent in current Medicaid reimbursement rates. Eight of the 10 most populous U.S. states are ranked in the bottom half of reimbursement rates nationally. Many of these states have considerably higher nonwhite populations enrolled in Medicaid and relatively lower reimbursement rates. In contrast, many of the states with the highest reimbursement rates have proportionally fewer residents of color (Vermont, Wyoming, Iowa, Idaho, Nebraska)."⁷⁸

California's Medicaid reimbursement rates have been the subject of racial and ethnic discrimination litigation in recent years. In 2019, California had the 19th lowest reimbursement rate (out of 49 states and the District of Columbia)⁷⁹ and 77.7 percent of its Medicaid participants were non-white. ⁸⁰ Several Medicaid participants in California joined with civil rights organizations to sue the state of California in 2017, arguing that inadequate benefits are a form

of discrimination against Latinx participants.⁸¹ (The case was dismissed in June 2022 but is under appeal as of May 2023.⁸²)

Research has found that increasing physician reimbursement rates improves Medicaid participants' access to care and health.⁸³ A study analyzing changes in state payment rates estimates that a \$10 increase in Medicaid payments reduces reports of doctors telling adult Medicaid participants they are not accepting new patients or their insurance by 13 and 11 percent, respectively.⁸⁴ The same study found that increasing Medicaid reimbursement rates by \$45—closing the median payment gap between Medicaid and private insurers—would reduce disparities in access to care by 70 percent or more.⁸⁵

RACIAL SEGREGATION IN NURSING FACILITIES

Under Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, programs that receive federal funding are prohibited from engaging in discriminatory practices. ⁸⁶ When Medicare launched, the federal government made significant investments in desegregating hospitals. However, desegregation efforts in long-term care facilities—where Medicaid is the main funder—were not as strongly enforced. ⁸⁷ More than 50 years later, nursing facilities remain heavily segregated. ^{88,89}

Decades of research on nursing home health outcomes have shown deep disparities by race.⁹⁰ Black nursing home residents are much more likely than their white counterparts to live in nursing homes that deliver a poorer quality of care, have lower staff-to-patient ratios, and experience more financial precarity.⁹¹ Research published in 2021 identified low Medicaid reimbursement rates as a key factor in ongoing racial segregation:

"...Most long-term care users pay out of pocket if and while they have the funds to do so, but generations of discriminatory policies leading to lower levels of wealth among Black individuals mean that fewer funds are available to pay out of pocket. Persons who are impoverished can receive coverage from Medicaid, but Medicaid nursing home rates are much lower than those of other payers. This situation results in residential long-term care settings vying to admit non-Medicaid (disproportionately non-Black) patients, a situation that is inherently discriminatory."⁹²

The COVID-19 pandemic clearly demonstrated how poor quality of care contributes to poorer health outcomes—and increased likelihood of death from preventable causes—for Black older adults in predominantly Black nursing homes.⁹³ During the first year of the pandemic, 63 percent of nursing homes with a high share of Black residents reported at least one COVID-19 death, compared to 40 percent of nursing homes with a lower share of Black residents.⁹⁴

LIMITED MATERNAL & INFANT COVERAGE

Medicaid's limited coverage of maternal and infant health care fuels racial disparities in pregnancy outcomes. Nearly half of all births in the U.S. are covered by Medicaid, and around two-thirds of Black women have births covered by Medicaid. While most pregnant people in the coverage gap become eligible for Medicaid once they are pregnant, being uninsured before pregnancy is associated with a higher prevalence of risk factors that can lead to poorer pregnancy outcomes. Additionally, under current law, states are only required to provide pregnancy-related Medicaid coverage for the first 60 days after delivery.

The U.S. has the highest rate of maternal mortality among developed countries, and Black women die at significantly higher rates than other racial and ethnic groups.⁹⁸ In 2020, 24 mothers

died for every 100,000 live births in the U.S., more than three times the rate observed by other high-income countries.⁹⁹ Black women are approximately three times as likely as their white counterparts to die of pregnancy-related complications; American Indian and Alaska Native women are roughly twice as likely.¹⁰⁰ The majority of these deaths—roughly 80 percent—could be prevented by one or more care or systems changes.¹⁰¹

Although disproportionate rates of Black maternal and infant mortality are in part due to racist and discriminatory practices that are endemic to the health care system at large, access—greatly impacted by Medicaid policies—to continuous and attentive care before becoming pregnant and during the prenatal, delivery, and postpartum stages is critical to saving lives and ensuring healthy outcomes for mothers and their babies.

Medicaid & CHIP Policies Create Unnecessary Eligibility & Administrative Barriers for People of Color

Medicaid and CHIP applicants and participants face systemic obstacles to eligibility, enrollment, and renewal, significantly affecting access to coverage. These barriers block millions of people, particularly people of color, from being eligible for coverage and place unnecessary pressure on eligible people who navigate a web of Medicaid and CHIP program requirements and a complex health care system.

ELIGIBILITY BARRIERS

For several decades, eligibility for Medicaid was tied to eligibility for AFDC, a program with a history of restrictive policies based on racist and sexist conceptions of the "deserving poor" that continue to affect access to cash assistance. Particularly for Black and other single mothers of color, access to AFDC was limited by targeted morals- and conduct-based exclusion policies. Furthermore, states determined their own AFDC income eligibility limits and benefits levels; states with large Black populations tended to set lower income eligibility limits and benefits levels. Some states implemented policies stopping Aid to Dependent Children (precursor program to AFDC) benefits during planting and harvesting seasons in an effort to compel Black parents to work in agriculture. This connection to AFDC resulted in Medicaid eligibility requirements that were also rooted in harmful, conflicting stereotypes that portray people of color—particularly Black people—as both lazy (when it comes to participation in the labor force) and exceptionally industrious (when it comes to abuse of public benefits programs). Another consequence of determining eligibility for Medicaid using AFDC policies was that adults without dependent children were not eligible for Medicaid, a restriction present in 2023 in nine states (every non-expansion state except for Wisconsin, which has a waiver program for such adults). On the content of the program of the states (every non-expansion state except for Wisconsin, which has a waiver program for such adults).

In 1996, the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act (PRWORA) officially decoupled Medicaid from eligibility for Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF, which replaced AFDC) cash assistance. However, PRWORA resulted in an application process and new restrictions for Medicaid that made participation less accessible to immigrants; many of those restrictions remain in place. PRWORA restrictions included the introduction of a five-year waiting period on enrolling in Medicaid for many immigrants who are documented and a complete ban for people who are undocumented. CHIP, created in 1997, largely incorporated these same barriers.

The policy choice to exclude many immigrants from access to benefits was rooted in racism.¹¹⁴ It was the culmination of decades of policy debates in which policymakers, think tanks, and the

media vilified and scapegoated immigrants—particularly Latinx immigrants—for the nation's ills. These restrictions accelerated a radical process of exclusion that began shortly after immigration law opened the U.S. to more non-European immigrants in 1965.¹¹⁵

From 2016 through 2023, Congress made repeated attempts to institute restrictive work requirements as an additional barrier to Medicaid eligibility. Proposed work requirements for Medicaid would disproportionately affect African American mothers and their families, and research shows that work requirements, which can cost a state hundreds of millions of dollars to administer, do not actually promote increased work and earnings. The Department of Health and Human Services predicts that work requirements could result in at least 21 million individuals—most of whom are working or exempt from working—being at risk of care interruptions or loss of coverage altogether. Proposed work requirements to institute restrictive work requirements for Proposed work requirements for Medicaid eligibility.

ADMINISTRATIVE BARRIERS

Administrative burdens are concentrated in public benefits programs that serve a higher proportion of people of color, while universal programs that serve a comparatively much larger white proportion of participants, like Social Security, have little to no administrative burden.¹²¹ In the Medicaid and CHIP programs, administrative burdens contribute to 7 million people being uninsured despite their eligibility for Medicaid or CHIP.^{122, 123, iii} Nearly two-thirds of the people who are uninsured and eligible are people of color.¹²⁴

In both Medicaid and CHIP, administrative burdens causing eligible participants to lose coverage include short response windows and reliance on mailed paper notices and forms. ^{125,126} In various states, participants lose coverage if they do not respond to a verification request within 10 days. ¹²⁷ A study found that in Colorado, Louisiana, Tennessee, Missouri, Ohio, and Texas, large numbers of participants lost Medicaid or CHIP coverage because they did not respond to verification requests in time. ¹²⁸ In Arkansas, total Medicaid and CHIP enrollment dropped from approximately 948,000 participants in December 2016 to 841,000 in June 2019 due to various policies, including a work reporting requirement and the state's policy to disenroll participants if any mail is returned as undeliverable. ¹²⁹ Focus groups indicated that some participants were not receiving mail from the Department of Human Services (DHS) at their updated address despite having reported it to the state. ¹³⁰ Beyond Arkansas, many state Medicaid and CHIP agencies do not follow up on returned mail but rather end eligibility for participants whose addresses no longer seem valid. ¹³¹

Many states have failed to fully implement the ACA's requirements to reduce administrative burden in both Medicaid and CHIP.^{132, 133, 134} For example, many states require applicants to submit their pay stubs, substantiate variations in income, and demonstrate the loss of a job or other modifications in employment status even though state data sources can confirm eligibility.¹³⁵ These tasks may be particularly challenging for part-time workers and people with precarious work schedules, who are more likely to be people of color,¹³⁶ as their income tends to fluctuate regularly.¹³⁷ Income volatility and having multiple jobs can increase the required amount of paperwork and make it harder to keep forms up to date.

In September 2022, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) proposed a rule that would simplify the process for eligible individuals to enroll in the Medicaid and CHIP programs. Among the measures included in the proposed rule are eliminating CHIP premium lock-out periods and waiting periods, creating timeliness requirements for agencies to communicate eligibility redeterminations to participants, removing barriers to enrollment for new applicants, requiring states to allow adequate time for participants to provide requested information, and establishing participant protections related to returned mail. For more information, see "Streamlining the Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program, and Basic Health Program Application, Eligibility Determination, Enrollment, and Renewal Processes, Proposed Rule." Federal Register, vol. 87, 7 September 2022, pp. 54760-54855. Available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/09/07/2022-18875/streamlining-the-medicaid-childrens-health-insurance-program-and-basic-health-program-application



A New Vision for Medicaid & CHIP to Advance Racial Justice

Medicaid and CHIP can and must be vital pillars of a care infrastructure that promotes and protects the well-being of people without access to private health coverage. The following sections describe a vision and propose recommendations to reimagine Medicaid and CHIP as programs that meaningfully ensure racial equity in health care access, coverage, and outcomes.

The Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality recommends re-envisioning Medicaid and CHIP to advance racial equity through three broad strategies:

- 1. Address inequitable coverage;
- 2. Bridge racial disparities in quality of care and health outcomes; and
- 3. Expand eligibility and alleviate administrative burdens.

This section provides several recommendations that federal and state policymakers and program administrators should enact, including transformative federal actions and changes that utilize existing tools and policies within Medicaid and CHIP. Implementation of these recommendations should be guided by principles that center and empower program participants and their communities.^{iv}

iv The recommendations and principles in this report are not meant to be comprehensive.

Address Inequitable Coverage

This section outlines two transformative measures to address inequitable coverage: closing the coverage gap and making CHIP funding permanent.

CLOSE THE COVERAGE GAP

Implement federal action to close the coverage gap.

Medicaid expansion improves access to care and health outcomes, increases coverage, bolsters economic security, and advances economic and employment growth.^{138, 139, 140} In contrast, being in the coverage gap prevents millions of individuals from exerting agency over their own health.¹⁴¹ Closing the coverage gap supports the growth and well-being of our country. Yet, approximately 1.9 million people are uninsured (as of March 2023) in the coverage gap created by states that have not opted into expansion.¹⁴² Adults in the coverage gap earn incomes too low to qualify for subsidized health insurance options through the ACA marketplace, but because they live in states that have failed to adopt Medicaid expansion, they also do not qualify for Medicaid. Individuals in the coverage gap—the majority of whom live in Southern states and are Black, Latinx, or other people of color—have been left especially vulnerable to public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the Black maternal mortality epidemic.^{143, 144}

Even with the financial incentives to adopt Medicaid expansion offered by the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, most non-expansion states continue to refuse to take action, making federal action necessary to ameliorate the racial injustices perpetuated by the coverage gap.¹⁴⁵

MAKE CHIP FUNDING PERMANENT

Congress should make CHIP funding permanent.

Unlike other federal health insurance programs, CHIP must be reauthorized by Congress periodically, and federal CHIP funding to states is capped. This structure creates uncertainty for states and the potential for lapses in coverage for children. When Congress missed its deadline to renew CHIP funding for fiscal year 2018, federal funding lapsed for several months, and states had to take extraordinary measures to maintain their programs while they waited for federal action. Year Several states posted announcements on their websites or directly notified families that their CHIP coverage could be terminated. Connecticut went so far as to institute an enrollment freeze on new applications. Year States respond to budget limitations by implementing enrollment freezes and caps, and studies indicate that these measures have led to families experiencing coverage losses, delays in accessing needed medical care, difficulties obtaining prescription medications, and significant financial hardships. Year

The certainty of permanent funding would protect children and families from future lapses in federal commitment to CHIP and would allow states to keep their programs running smoothly and make plans for program improvements.¹⁵⁰ Making CHIP funding permanent would help ensure participants' health and well-being.¹⁵¹



Bridge Racial Disparities in Quality of Care & Health Outcomes

This section outlines two key policy changes to help address racial disparities in quality of care and health outcomes: increasing Medicaid reimbursement rates and mandating extension of Medicaid coverage to at least one year postpartum.

INCREASE MEDICAID REIMBURSEMENT RATES

States should increase Medicaid reimbursement rates to reduce inequities in access and quality of care.

Although the Medicaid statute compels states to pay rates that ensure equal access for program participants, Medicaid's low reimbursement rates present a barrier to accessing quality care for many, often requiring health care providers to spend more on services for participants than those providers receive in program funds.¹⁵² Therefore, some providers accept patients with private insurance while rejecting patients who are Medicaid participants.¹⁵³ Low Medicaid reimbursement rates disproportionately harm people of color.¹⁵⁴ Research indicates that increasing physician reimbursement amounts under Medicaid improves program participants' health care access and health.¹⁵⁵ A 2019 study showed that increasing the baseline Medicaid primary care rates by \$45 per service—to close the gap in payments between private insurance and Medicaid—would reduce inequities in access to care by at least 70 percent.¹⁵⁶

Aligning Medicaid reimbursement rates with Medicare reimbursement rates for nursing home care is particularly important to address deep racial disparities in quality of care and health outcomes. Research on systemic racism in nursing homes suggests that doing so would reduce incentives for nursing homes to reject Medicaid participants and would advance racial equity.¹⁵⁷

Federal and state action is needed to support adequate Medicaid reimbursement rates.

EXTEND MEDICAID COVERAGE TO AT LEAST ONE YEAR POSTPARTUM

States should extend Medicaid and CHIP coverage to at least one year after the end of pregnancy.

The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 provided an option for states to extend Medicaid and CHIP coverage from two to 12 months postpartum; the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2022 made this option permanent. (As of January 2023, seven states use CHIP funding to cover pregnant individuals.) This change has immense potential to ameliorate racial disparities in postpartum health outcomes if fully operationalized nationwide, and all states need to take up this expansion in coverage. As of June 2023, 35 states and D.C. have implemented 12-month postpartum coverage, and another six states plan to implement the change.



Expand Eligibility & Alleviate Administrative Burdens

This section outlines policy changes expanding eligibility and alleviating administrative burdens to help ensure equitable access to Medicaid and CHIP coverage for all, particularly people of color.

MAKE MEDICAID & CHIP ACCESSIBLE TO ALL IMMIGRANTS WHO MEET INCOME & STATE RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS, REGARDLESS OF CITIZENSHIP STATUS & WITHOUT WAITING PERIODS

Federal and state policymakers should implement policies that remove immigration status as a barrier to accessing Medicaid and CHIP benefits.

Documented immigrants in the United States who meet income and state residency requirements are barred from accessing Medicaid or CHIP for five years after attaining "qualified status." ¹⁶¹ "Qualified" immigrant groups include documented permanent residents, asylees, and refugees. ¹⁶² Other "non-qualified" groups of documented immigrants, including those with temporary protected status, and people who are undocumented, cannot enroll in Medicaid or CHIP, regardless of how long they have resided in the country. ¹⁶³

These restrictions leave a significant number of U.S. residents without coverage. In 2021, approximately 20.8 million noncitizens—a category that includes immigrants who are documented and undocumented—were living in the U.S.¹⁶⁴ People without citizenship status are significantly more likely to go without health care coverage, reflecting barriers to access. A quarter of non-elderly immigrants who are documented and almost half of immigrants who are undocumented were uninsured in 2021, versus less than 8 percent of non-elderly citizens.¹⁶⁵ In 2019, 7.9 percent of uninsured children were ineligible for Medicaid and CHIP only due to immigration status, despite their families' incomes falling below state thresholds.¹⁶⁶

Federal policymakers should end the five-year waiting period, or "five-year bar," for access to public benefits, including Medicaid and CHIP, and other anti-immigrant exclusions created by PRWORA. Legislative proposals, such as the Lifting Immigrant Families Through Benefits Access Restoration (LIFT the BAR) Act of 2022, would remove barriers created by PRWORA, including the five-year waiting period for access to public benefits. In addition to ending the five-year bar, federal legislation should ensure that state policymakers cannot create new barriers to benefits.

Recent state policies have already demonstrated the feasibility of extending coverage to previously uncovered immigrant groups. The Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2009 provided states with the option to extend Medicaid and CHIP coverage to pregnant women and children who are documented without a five-year waiting period. To date, 35 states and D.C. have taken up this option to expand coverage for one or both groups. Additionally, as of December 2022, nine states allow comprehensive coverage for all income-eligible children, regardless of immigration status. A few states—including California, New York, and Illinois—have made great strides in expanding Medicaid coverage to adults regardless of their immigration status. In January 2020, California extended statefunded coverage to young adults ages 19-26 regardless of immigration status; in May 2022, California extended coverage to adults 50 and older regardless of immigration status.

IMPLEMENT CONTINUOUS ELIGIBILITY FOR PARTICIPANTS FOR AT LEAST 12 MONTHS

States should protect Medicaid and CHIP participants from churn and interruptions in coverage by implementing continuous eligibility for at least 12 months for all participants.

Many Medicaid and CHIP participants temporarily lose coverage due to short-term changes in income.¹⁷⁶ Others may face obstacles in maintaining coverage despite remaining eligible due to complicated renewal procedures and frequent eligibility checks.¹⁷⁷ The resulting process of disenrollment and re-enrollment over the course of a brief period of time is referred to as "churn," which both limits participants' access to care and raises administrative costs.¹⁷⁸ Children of color are more likely than their white counterparts to experience periods of uninsurance during the year; 14 percent of Latinx children and almost 12 percent of Black children are affected by these gaps in coverage, compared to 7.3 percent of white children.¹⁷⁹

States can protect Medicaid and CHIP-eligible individuals from administrative burdens and interruptions in their care by instituting 12 months or more of continuous eligibility for all participants. As of 2023, 24 states have adopted 12-month continuous eligibility for children through a state option. Beginning in 2024, all states will be required to provide 12-month continuous coverage for children. V. 181

Several states have taken action to extend continuous eligibility beyond 12 months; other states should follow their lead. In September 2022, Oregon received approval from the federal government for a Section 1115 demonstration project that provides continuous eligibility for children participating in Medicaid from birth until the age of six, and two years of continuous eligibility for all participants six years and older. New York provides 12-month continuous eligibility for all adults, while Kansas provides 12-month continuous eligibility for parents and caretakers who are covered under Section 1931, a provision requiring states to cover parents whose incomes fall under the state income eligibility level. Alifornia, New Mexico, and Washington are also working to follow Oregon in offering multi-year continuous coverage for children under Medicaid and CHIP.

FULLY IMPLEMENT ACA REDUCTIONS TO ADMINISTRATIVE BURDENS

States should implement existing ACA policies that reduce administrative burdens in the application and enrollment processes.

Policy changes in the ACA have great potential to reduce administrative burdens. For example, the ACA prohibited mandatory in-person interviews, required that states use already available data to confirm eligibility and, where possible, automatically renew individuals' coverage, and eliminated asset tests for adults under 65 who do not qualify for Medicaid based on disability.¹⁸⁶ However, many states have not fully implemented the changes.^{187, 188}

v A recent proposed rule from CMS focused on streamlining Medicaid and CHIP would require states to conduct renewals no more than once every 12 months (with limited exception). For more information, see "Streamlining Eligibility & Enrollment Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM)." Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 31 August 2022. Available at https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/streamlining-eligibility-enrollment-notice-propose-rulemaking-nprm.

Enrollment simplification measures in the ACA should be extended to people who qualify for Medicaid on the basis of disability, who are currently excluded from many of them.¹⁸⁹ The exclusions leave these participants at higher risk of losing coverage due to procedural reasons despite still meeting eligibility requirements.¹⁹⁰ In August 2022, CMS proposed a rule that, if implemented and enforced, would extend these burden-reducing measures to participants with disabilities.¹⁹¹

REDUCE DATA CHECKS & VERIFICATION REQUESTS

States should rely on already available data to reduce the number and frequency of data checks and verification requests.

People who qualify for Medicaid also often participate in other public programs, such as the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), and data sharing can allow for administrators to cross-check for Medicaid and CHIP eligibility. ¹⁹² By increasing the number of reference databases and reliance on already available data, states can reduce the burden on Medicaid and CHIP applicants and participants to provide documents verifying their eligibility. ¹⁹³

To promote stable coverage, it is critical that the increased reliance on available data is instituted in tandem with a reduction in data checks on households. Although states are not federally required to conduct these checks, 30 states periodically check electronic data sources for changes in participant income or other circumstances throughout the 12-month enrollment period, and a number of states provide participants only 10 days to respond to related information requests to confirm continued eligibility.¹⁹⁴ Many of these checks are performed by algorithms and other automated decision-making systems, which can be influenced by institutional biases and prevent individuals from fully understanding the reasons for benefits termination.¹⁹⁵ Consequently, state and federal agencies must institute practices that promote transparency, reduce bias, and provide pathways for exceptions that can reject automatic decisions.¹⁹⁶

Frequent data checks can take away vital Medicaid or CHIP coverage from participants due to onerous, time-sensitive verification and paperwork requirements.¹⁹⁷ Periodic data checks disproportionately harm workers with more than one job or workers who switch between jobs throughout the year.¹⁹⁸ In addition to harming participants, these checks are not cost-effective for states. When a participant loses coverage due to a data check, goes a period of time without coverage, and then re-enrolls, the costs of their health care are often higher than if their coverage had been uninterrupted.¹⁹⁹ Further, the cyclic churn of participants losing coverage and re-enrolling incurs additional administrative costs to state agencies.²⁰⁰

In August 2022, CMS proposed a rule focused on streamlining eligibility and enrollment for the Medicaid and CHIP programs that would-among other burden-reducing measures-establish guidelines for states to consult available data before disenrolling a participant who cannot be reached via mail; create pathways for states to refer to available data to update addresses when participants move within the same state; require that participants have enough time to provide documentation to maintain eligibility; and implement a process whereby participants can be transitioned between Medicaid and CHIP when their income fluctuates or they become eligible for the other program, even if the participant does not respond to an information request.²⁰¹



IMPROVE ACCESS TO ONLINE SERVICES

States should design online applications and account management portals for the application and renewal processes to maximize access.

Medicaid and CHIP's reliance on paper documentation and mail to prove and maintain eligibility has often resulted in eligible individuals experiencing interruptions in coverage or not being able to receive coverage in the first place.²⁰² For many, online applications and account management portals can present a useful alternative and, if operated effectively, can reduce disparities in access to Medicaid and CHIP coverage.²⁰³ However, poorly designed, non-mobile-friendly websites make it more difficult to use these services to apply for and renew benefits. People with low incomes are more likely to use smartphones to access the internet than broadband home service.²⁰⁴ Research has shown that website design choices can make a real difference; mobile-friendly sites that have undergone comprehensive user-based testing and allow users to upload photos of documents to verify eligibility can significantly increase access.²⁰⁵



Principles to Center & Empower Program Participants & Their Communities

This section offers three principles, informed by our discussions with stakeholders, that policymakers and administrators should utilize when implementing policy changes to Medicaid and CHIP. The principles are participant-centered accountability, power-sharing with community-based organizations, and resources for community-based organizations.

Participant-Centered Accountability

Establish built-in mechanisms for participants to share their experiences with providers and decision-makers for the Medicaid and CHIP programs.

As long as the voices of people of color remain de-centered and disempowered, an equitable federal support system cannot be actualized.^{206, 207} To be truly transformative, Medicaid and CHIP policies must engage participants as active co-creators, empowering them to exercise control over their own lives and well-being. In 2022, CMS announced a plan to take a participant-centered approach to improving quality and advancing health equity.²⁰⁸ One of the goals of the CMS National Quality Strategy is to ensure that the voice of the individual is included in decisions involving their care and that there are direct pathways for participant feedback regarding provider, facility, or payer performance to inform CMS's quality improvement approach.²⁰⁹



In order to further participant-centered accountability, CMS should continue to test provider reimbursement models that prioritize patient well-being.²¹⁰

Power-Sharing With Community-Based Organizations

Ensure continuous, compensated, and institutionalized community-based organizations' involvement at all levels of the policy process through formal pathways, such as advisory groups.

In order to center the voices of the people most affected by Medicaid and CHIP policies and advance health equity, decision-making power must be appropriately distributed among stakeholders including members of marginalized communities, such as Black and Brown people.²¹¹ Power-sharing can take many forms, including agencies inviting community-based organizations to participate in task forces and convenings that guide program and budget changes, inviting community-based organizations to participate in planning and assessment meetings, or subcontracting with community-based organizations to promote program participation.^{212, 213} Authentic, long-term relationships between federal and state institutions and community partners would help ensure continuous, sustained pathways for formal participation at all levels of the policy process.²¹⁴ The Integrated Care for High Risk Pregnancies (ICHRP) program, a grant-supported initiative administered by the Minnesota Department of Human Services (DHS) in partnership with local African American community leaders and medical professionals, is an example of a power-sharing arrangement aiming to reduce racial health disparities.²¹⁵

Power-sharing with communities marginalized by the health care system must include equitable compensation for members' participation. Otherwise, program participants could be exploited.²¹⁶, ²¹⁷ As one strategy, the Minnesota DHS recommends contracting with respected community partners to host conversations with participants, ensuring the participants are compensated for their time and reimbursed for expenses, including travel and child care.²¹⁸

Resources for Community-Based Organizations

Direct state and federal funding toward community-based groups led by communities of color who have been marginalized by the health care system.

CMS has found that some community-led programs—such as those focusing on physical activity, chronic disease management, and fall prevention—have likely driven down health care costs and the rate of unplanned hospital visits for participants.^{219, 220} Community-based initiatives and social services address unmet needs and promote health among community members, and state and federal funds should be allocated towards investing in these efforts.

An example of this principle in action is Medicaid coverage of community health workers (CHWs). CHWs are trusted community members, often employed by community-based organizations, who provide culturally competent services to people who are often underrepresented in health care systems.²²¹ They perform many services, including health promotion, advocacy on behalf of patients and their families, and connecting community members with resources.²²² Evidence indicates that CHW-led interventions can reduce racial health disparities.²²³ According to KFF's 2022 Medicaid budget survey, only 29 out of 48 responding states reported allowing Medicaid funding to cover services provided by CHWs.²²⁴ With sustainable funding, community-based organizations would be able to grow and improve services and contribute to better health outcomes for Medicaid and CHIP participants.



Conclusion

Medicaid and CHIP are vital pillars of our health care system, and can be transformed into programs that redress past and present inequities and deliver high-quality care for everyone. Thoughtful, purposefully anti-racist improvements to Medicaid and CHIP's policies and service delivery would advance racial health equity and improve the health and well-being of millions more families. Implementing anti-racist program transformations while prioritizing the voices, needs, and agency of participants and their communities would aid in the creation of a health care system that truly works for all.

Endnotes

- 1 Perkins, Jane, and Sarah Somers. "The Ongoing Racial Paradox of the Medicaid Program." National Health Law Program, 23 May 2022. Available at https://healthlaw.org/resource/the-ongoing-racial-paradox-of-the-medicaid-program/.
- 2 "February 2023 Medicaid & CHIP Enrollment Data Highlights." Medicaid, April 2023. Available at https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/program-information/medicaid-and-chip-enrollment-data/report-highlights/index.htm
- Rudowitz, Robin, Rachel Garfield, and Elizabeth Hinton. "10 Things to Know about Medicaid: Setting the Facts Straight." KFF, 6 March 2019. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/10-things-to-know-about-medicaid-setting-the-facts-straight/.
- 4 "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Medicaid: An Annotated Bibliography." Medicaid and Chip Payment and Access Commission, April 2021. Available at https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Racial-and-Ethnic-Disparities-in-Medicaid-An-Annotated-Bibliography.pdf.
- 5 "Medicaid and Racial Health Equity." KFF, 17 March 2022. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-and-racial-health-equity/.
- 6 Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 7 Perkins, Jane, and Sarah Somers. "The Ongoing Racial Paradox of the Medicaid Program." National Health Law Program, 23 May 2022. Available at https://healthlaw.org/resource/the-ongoing-racial-paradox-of-the-medicaid-program/.
- 8 Erzouki, Farah. "States Must Act to Preserve Medicaid Coverage as End of Continuous Coverage Requirement Nears." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 6 February 2023. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-must-act-to-preserve-medicaid-coverage-as-end-of-continuous-coverage.
- 9 "Unwinding the Medicaid Continuous Enrollment Provision: Projected Enrollment Effects and Policy Approaches." The Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 19 August 2022. Available at https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/unwinding-medicaid-continuous-enrollment-provision.
- 10 Kelly, Susan. "15M Medicaid Enrollees Risk Coverage Loss When Covid-19 Health Emergency Ends, HHS Reports." Healthcare Dive, 23 August 2022. Available at https://www.healthcaredive.com/news/Medicaid-lose-coverage-hhs-aspepublic-health-emergency/630266/.
- "Unwinding the Medicaid Continuous Enrollment Provision: Projected Enrollment Effects and Policy Approaches." The Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 19 August 2022. Available at https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/unwinding-medicaid-continuous-enrollment-provision.
- 12 Cubanski, Juliette, et al. "What Happens When COVID-19 Emergency Declarations End? Implications for Coverage, Costs, and Access." KFF, 31 January 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/ what-happens-when-covid-19-emergency-declarations-end-implicationsfor-coverage-costs-and-access/#:~:text=A%20PHE%20lasts%20for%20 90,notice%20before%20the%20PHE%20expires.
- Moore, Judith D., and David G Smith. "Legislating Medicaid: Considering Medicaid and its Origins." Health Care Financing Review, 27(2): 45-52, 2005. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4194918/.
- 14 Perkins, Jane, and Sarah Somers. "The Ongoing Racial Paradox of the Medicaid Program." National Health Law Program, 23 May 2022. Available at https://healthlaw.org/resource/the-ongoing-racial-paradox-of-the-medicaid-program/.

- "Medical Assistance for the Aged: The Kerr-Mills Program 1960-1963." U.S. Special Committee on Aging, October 1963. Available at https://www.aging.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/reports/rpt263.pdf.
- Moore, Judith D., and David G. Smith. "Legislating Medicaid: Considering Medicaid and its Origins." Health Care Financing Review, 27(2): 45-52, 2005. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4194918/.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 "Program History." https://www.medicaid.gov/about-us/program-history/index.html. Accessed 19 May 2023.
- 19 Perkins, Jane, and Sarah Somers. "The Ongoing Racial Paradox of the Medicaid Program." National Health Law Program, 23 May 2022. Available at https://healthlaw.org/resource/the-ongoing-racial-paradox-of-the-medicaid-program/.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Nolen, LaShyra T., Adam L. Beckman, and Emma Sandoe. "How Foundational Moments in Medicaid's History Reinforced Rather Than Eliminated Racial Health Disparities." Health Affairs Blog, 1 September 2020. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20200828.661111.
- Nolen, LaShyra T., Adam L. Beckman, and Emma Sandoe. "How Foundational Moments in Medicaid's History Reinforced Rather Than Eliminated Racial Health Disparities." Health Affairs Blog, 1 September 2020. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20200828.661111.
- 23 Cohen, Wilbur J. "Reflections on the Enactment of Medicare and Medicaid." Health Care Financing Review, Supplement: 3-11, December 1985. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4195078/.
- 24 Perkins, Jane, and Sarah Somers. "The Ongoing Racial Paradox of the Medicaid Program." National Health Law Program, 23 May 2022. Available at https://healthlaw.org/resource/the-ongoing-racial-paradox-of-the-medicaid-program/.
- Moore, Judith D., and David G. Smith. "Legislating Medicaid: Considering Medicaid and its Origins." Health Care Financing Review, 27(2): 45-52, 2005. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4194918/.
- 26 Minoff, Elisa. "The Racist Roots of Work Requirements." Center for the Study of Social Policy, February 2020. Available at https://cssp.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Racist-Roots-of-Work-Requirements-CSSP-1.pdf.
- 27 Paradise, Julia. "The Impact of the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP): What Does the Research Tell Us?" KFF, 17 July 2014. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/the-impact-of-the-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-what-does-the-research-tell-us/.
- 28 "August 2022 Medicaid & CHIP Enrollment Data Highlights." Medicaid, August 2022. Available at https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/program-information/medicaid-and-chip-enrollment-data/report-highlights/index.html.
- CCFadmin and Cathy Hope. "CHIP: Serving America's Children for 25 Years." Georgetown University Health Institute, 15 July 2022. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2022/07/15/chip-serving-americas-children-for-25-years/.
- Gruessner, Vera. "The History and Evolution of CHIP and the Medicare Program." HealthPayerIntelligence, 30 December 2015. Available at https://healthpayerintelligence.com/news/the-history-and-evolution-of-chip-and-the-medicare-program.
- 31 Planalp, Colin, and Andrea Stewart. "Room to Grow: Inequities in Children's Health Insurance Coverage." State Health Access Data Assistance Center, September 2022. Available at https://www.shadac.org/sites/default/files/publications/Room%20to%20grow KHIC Brief 22.pdf.

- 32 Alker, Joan, and Aubrianna Osorio. "Child Uninsured Rate Could Rise Sharply if States Don't Proceed with Caution." Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 1 February 2023. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2023/02/01/child-uninsured-rate-could-rise-sharply-if-states-dont-take-care.
- Brooks, Tricia. "Medicaid and CHIP Provide Health Coverage to More than Half of Children of Color." Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 27 July, 2020. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2020/07/27/medicaid-and-chip-provide-health-coverage-to-more-than-half-of-children-of-color/.
- 34 "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Healthcare." American College of Physicians, 2010. Available at https://assets.acponline.org/acp_policy/policies/racial_ethnic_disparities 2010.pdf.
- 35 Artiga, Samantha, and Petry Ubri. "Key Issues in Children's Health Coverage." KFF, 15 February 2017. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/key-issues-in-childrens-health-coverage/.
- "Financing Health Coverage: The State Children's Health Insurance Program Experience." KFF, 30 January 2005. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/financing-health-coverage-the-state-childrens-health/.
- 37 Artiga, Samantha, Rachel Garfield, and Kendal Orgera. "Communities of Color at Higher Risk for Health and Economic Challenges Due to COVID-19." KFF, 7 April 2020, Available at https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/communities-of-color-at-higher-risk-for-health-and-economic-challenges-due-to-covid-19/
- 38 Brumfield, Cara, et al. "Structurally Unsound: The Impact of Using Block Grants to Fund Economic Security Programs." Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, 28 February 2019. Available at https://www.georgetownpoverty.org/issues/structurally-unsound/.
- 39 Brookes, Tricia, et al. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Renewal Policies as States Prepare for the Unwinding of the Pandemic-Era Continuous Enrollment Provision." KFF, 4 April 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/medicaid-and-chip-eligibility-enrollment-and-renewal-policies-as-states-prepare-for-the-unwinding-of-the-pandemic-era-continuous-enrollment-provision-report/.
- 40 Brookes, Tricia, et al. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Renewal Policies as States Prepare for the Unwinding of the Pandemic-Era Continuous Enrollment Provision." KFF, 4 April 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-enrollment-provision-report/
- 41 Brooks, Tricia. "Now is the Time to Remove CHIP Waiting Periods." Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 17 April 2020. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2020/04/17/now-is-the-time-to-remove-chip-waiting-periods-and-welcome-kids-into-coverage/.
- 42 Alker, Joan, and Anne Dwyer. "Next Steps for the Children's Health Insurance Program." Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, August 2021. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/CHIP-Next-Steps fix 10-8.pdf.
- 43 "Streamlining the Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program, and Basic Health Program Application, Eligibility Determination, Enrollment, and Renewal Processes, Proposed Rule." Federal Register, vol. 87, 7 September 2022, pp. 54760-54855. Available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/09/07/2022-18875/streamlining-the-medicaid-childrens-health-insurance-program-and-basic-health-program-application.
- 44 Kendi, Ibram X. "Ibran X. Kendi defines what it means to be an antiracist." Penguin, 9 June 2020. https://www.penguin.co.uk/articles/2020/06/ibram-x-kendi-definition-of-antiracist.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 Ibid.

- 47 "A Guide to the Supreme Court's Affordable Care Act Decision." KFF, July 2012. Available at https://kff.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/8332.pdf.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Cross-Call, Jesse. "Medicaid Expansion Has Helped Narrow Racial Disparities in Health Coverage and Access to Care." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 21 October 2020. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/medicaid-expansion-has-helped-narrow-racial-disparities-in-health-coverage-and.
- 51 "Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions: Interactive Map." KFF, 27 March 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/.
- 52 Cross-Call, Jesse. "Medicaid Expansion Has Helped Narrow Racial Disparities in Health Coverage and Access to Care." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 21 October 2020. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/medicaid-expansion-has-helped-narrow-racial-disparities-in-health-coverage-and.
- 53 Health Coverage Under the Affordable Care Act: Current Enrollment Trends and State Estimates." The Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 23 March 2023. Available at https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/8e81cf90c721dbbf58694c98e85804d3/health-coverage-under-aca.pdf.
- Rudowitz, Robin, et al.. "How Many Uninsured Are in the Coverage Gap and How Many Could Be Eligible if All States Adopted the Medicaid Expansion?" KFF, 31 March 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/how-many-uninsured-are-in-the-coverage-gap-and-how-many-could-be-eligible-if-all-states-adopted-the-medicaid-expansion).
- 55 Ibid.
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 Lukens, Gideon, and Breanna Sharer. "Closing Medicaid Coverage Gap Would Help Diverse Group and Narrow Racial Disparities." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 14 June 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/closing-medicaid-coverage-gap-would-help-diverse-group-and-narrow-racial.
- 58 Ibid.
- 59 Orgera, Kendal, Rachel Garfield, and Anthony Damico. "The Coverage Gap: Uninsured Poor Adults in States That Do Not Expand Medicaid." KFF, 21 January 2021. Available at https://files.kff.org/attachment/lssue-Brief-The-Coverage-Gap-Uninsured-Poor-Adults-in-States-that-Do-Not-Expand-Medicaid.
- Rudowitz, Robin, et al.. "How Many Uninsured Are in the Coverage Gap and How Many Could Be Eligible if All States Adopted the Medicaid Expansion?" KFF, 31 March 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/how-many-uninsured-are-in-the-coverage-gap-and-how-many-could-be-eligible-if-all-states-adopted-the-medicaid-expansion/.
- Lukens, Gideon, and Breanna Sharer. "Closing Medicaid Coverage Gap Would Help Diverse Group and Narrow Racial Disparities." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 14 June 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/closing-medicaid-coverage-gap-would-help-diverse-group-and-narrow-racial.
- 62 Ibid
- 63 Baumgartner, Jesse C., and Laurie Zephyrin. "How Health Care Coverage Expansions Can Address Racial Equity." Commonwealth Fund, 2 February 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/how-health-care-coverage-expansions-can-address-racial-equity.
- 64 Michener, Jamila D. "Politics, Pandemic, and Racial Justice through the Lens of Medicaid." American Journal of Public Health 111(4): 643-46, April 2021. Available at https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2020.306126.
- 65 Michener, Jamila. "Race, Politics, and the Affordable Care Act." Journal of Health Politics, Policy, and Law 45(4): 547-566, 2020. Available at https://read.dukeupress.edu/jhppl/article-abstract/45/4/547/160613/Race-Politics-and-the-Affordable-Care-Act?redirectedFrom=fulltext.

- 66 Lanford, Daniel, and Jill Quadagno. "Implementing Obamacare." Sociological Perspectives, 59(3): 619-39, 2015. Available at https://doi.org/10.1177/0731121415587605.
- 67 Fording, Richard C., and Dana J. Patton. "Medicaid Expansion and the Political Fate of the Governors Who Support It." Policy Studies Journal, 47(2): 274-99, 2019. Available at https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12311.
- Michener, Jamila D. "Politics, Pandemic, and Racial Justice through the Lens of Medicaid." American Journal of Public Health, 111(4): 643-46, April 2021. Available at https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2020.306126.
- 69 Romano, Sebastian, et al. "Trends in Racial and Ethnic Disparities in COVID-19 Hospitalizations, by Region United States, March-December 2020." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 16 April 2021. Available at https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/70/wr/mm7015e2.htm?scid=mm7015e2 w.
- Nguyen, Kevin H., et al. "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Patient Experience of Care Among Nonelderly Medicaid Managed Care Enrollees." Health Affairs, 41(2), February 2020. Available at <a href="https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1371/https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.137
- 71 "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Medicaid: An Annotated Bibliography." Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, April 2021. Available at https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Racial-and-Ethnic-Disparities-in-Medicaid-An-Annotated-Bibliography.pdf.
- 72 "Underpayment by Medicare and Medicaid Fact Sheet." American Hospital Association, February 2022. Available at https://www.aha.org/system/files/media/file/2020/01/2020-Medicare-Medicaid-Underpayment-Fact-Sheet.pdf.
- 73 Ford, Tiffany N., and Jamila Michener. "Medicaid Reimbursement Rates are a Racial Justice Issue." Commonwealth Fund, 16 June 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/medicaid-reimbursement-rates-are-racial-justice-issue.
- 74 "Medicaid-to-Medicare Fee Index." KFF, 2019. Available at <a href="https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/medicaid-to-medicare-fee-index/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- 75 Zuckerman, Stephen, Laura Skopec, and Joshua Aarons. "Medicaid Physician Fees Remained Substantially Below Fees Paid by Medicare in 2019." Health Affairs, 40(2), February 2021. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/full/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00611.
- "Chapter 2: Medicaid Primary Care Physician Payment Increase." Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission Report to the Congress on Medicaid and CHIP, June 2013. Available at https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/Medicaid-Primary-Care-Physician-Payment-Increase.pdf.
- 77 "Physician Acceptance of New Medicaid Patients; Findings from the National Electronic Health Records Survey." Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, June 2021. Available at https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Physician-Acceptance-of-New-Medicaid-Patients-Findings-from-the-National-Electronic-Health-Records-Survey.pdf.
- 78 Ford, Tiffany N., and Jamila Michener. "Medicaid Reimbursement Rates Are a Racial Justice Issue." Commonwealth Fund, June 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/medicaid-reimbursement-rates-are-racial-justice-issue.
- 79 "Medicaid-to-Medicare Fee Index." KFF, 2019. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/medicaid-to-medicare-fee-index.
- 80 "Medi-Cal Average Monthly Enrollment, by Race/Ethnicity." Kids Data, accessed 22 May 2023. Available at https://www.kidsdata.org/topic/735/medi-cal-monthly-enrollment-race/table.
- 81 Perea v. Dooley, Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate and Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief. Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda Cty, filed 12 July 2017. Available at https://www.maldef.org/assets/pdf/20170712_MediCal_complaint_FULL.pdf.
- 82 Perea v. California Department of Health Care Services, Appellants' Opening Brief. Cal. App. 1 Dist, 14 February 2023.

- 83 Alexander, Diane, and Molly Schnell. "The Impacts of Physician Payments on Patient Access, Use, and Health." National Bureau of Economic Research, July 2019. Working paper. Available at https://www.nber.org/system/files/working-papers/w26095/w26095.pdf.
- 84 Alexander, Diane, and Molly Schnell. "The Impacts of Physician Payments on Patient Access, Use, and Health." National Bureau of Economic Research, July 2019. Working paper. Available at https://www.nber.org/system/files/working-papers/w26095/w26095.pdf.
- 85 Alexander, Diane, and Molly Schnell. "The Impacts of Physician Payments on Patient Access, Use, and Health." National Bureau of Economic Research, July 2019. Working paper. Available at https://www.nber.org/system/files/working-papers/w26095/w26095.pdf.
- 86 Ibid.
- 87 Ibid
- 88 Nolen, LaShyra T., Adam L. Beckman, and Emma Sandoe. "How Foundational Moments In Medicaid's History Reinforced Rather Than Eliminated Racial Health Disparities." Health Affairs Blog, 1 September 2020. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20200828.661111.
- 89 Smith, David Barton, et al. "In the Literature: Separate and Unequal:
 Racial Segregation and Disparities in Quality Across U.S. Nursing Homes."
 Commonwealth Fund Pub. 1057, September 2007. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/ media filespublications in the literature 2007 sep separate and unequal racial segregation and disparities in quality across u.s. nursing homes smith separateunequalnursinghomes 1057 itl pdf.pdf.
- 90 For a comprehensive literature review, see Sloane, Philip D., et al. "Addressing Systemic Racism in Nursing Homes: A Time for Action." Journal of Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Medicine, 25 March 2021. Available at https://www.jamda.com/article/S1525-8610(21)00243-7/pdf.
- 91 Li, Yue, et al. "Deficiencies in Care at Nursing Homes and Racial/Ethnic Disparities across Homes Fell, 2006–11." Health Affairs, 34(7): 1139-46, 2015. Available at https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0094.
- 92 Sloane, Philip D., et al. "Addressing Systemic Racism in Nursing Homes: A Time for Action." Journal of Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Medicine, 22(4):886-892, 25 March 2021. Available at https://www.jamda.com/article/S1525-8610(21)00243-7/pdf.
- 93 Neuman, Tricia, Priya Chidambaram, and Rachel Garfield. "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in COVID-19 Cases and Deaths in Nursing Homes." KFF, 27 October 2020. Available at https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/racial-and-ethnic-disparities-in-covid-19-cases-and-deaths-in-nursing-homes/.
- 94 Ibid.
- 95 Smith-Ramakrishnan, Vina, and Thomas Waldrop. "How CMS Can Improve Reproductive and Maternal Health Care Access and Advance Health Equity." Century Foundation, 16 November 2022. Available at https://tcf.org/content/commentary/how-cms-can-improve-reproductive-and-maternal-health-care-access-and-advance-health-equity/.
- 96 Solomon, Judith. "Closing the Coverage Gap Would Improve Black Maternal Health." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 26 July 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/closing-the-coverage-gap-would-improve-black-maternal-health.
- 97 "Medicaid Postpartum Coverage Extension Tracker." KFF, 15 June 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-postpartum-coverageextension-tracker/.
- 98 Solomon, Judith. "Closing the Coverage Gap Would Improve Black Maternal Health." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 26 July 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/closing-the-coverage-gap-would-improve-black-maternal-health.

- 99 Gunja, Manira Z., Evan D. Gumas, and Reginald D. Williams II. "The U.S. Maternal Mortality Crisis Continues to Worsen: An International Comparison." Commonwealth Fund, 1 December 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/us-maternal-mortality-crisis-continues-worsen-international-comparison.
- 100 Artiga, Samantha, et al. "Racial Disparities in Maternal and Infant Health: An Overview," KFF, November 10, 2020. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/racial-disparities-in-maternal-and-infant-health-an-overview-issue-brief/.
- 101 Bernstein, Anna, Jamila Taylor, and Vina Smith-Ramakrishnan. "Almost All Pregnancy-Related Deaths Are Preventable, So What Is Congress Waiting For?" The Century Foundation, 23 September 2022. Available at https://tcf.org/content/commentary/almost-all-pregnancy-related-deaths-are-preventable-so-what-is-congress-waiting-for/.
- 102 Haider, Areeba, et al. "Re-Envisioning TANF: Toward an Anti-Racist Program That Meaningfully Serves Families." Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, 20 October 2022. Available at https://www.georgetownpoverty.org/issues/re-envisioning-tanf/.
- 103 Wikle, Suzanne, et al.. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 104 Ibid.
- 105 Floyd, Ife, et al. "TANF Policies Reflect Racist Legacy of Cash Assistance." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, August 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/family-income-support/tanf-policies-reflect-racist-legacy-of-cash-assistance.
- 106 Wikle, Suzanne, et al.. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 107 Ibid
- 108 Searing, Adam. "Why North Carolina Is Finally Getting to 'Yes' on Medicaid Expansion." Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 10 March 2023. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2023/03/10/why-north-carolina-is-finally-saving-yes-to-medicaid-expansion/.
- 109 Cawley, John, Mathis Schroeder, and Kosali I. Simon. "How Did Welfare Reform Affect the Health Insurance Coverage of Women and Children?" Health Services Research, 41(2): 486-506, 2006. Available at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00501.x.
- 110 Kaushal, Neeraj, and Robert Kaestner. "Welfare Reform and Health Insurance of Immigrants." Health Services Research, 40(3): 697-722, June 2005. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1361164/.
- 111 Broder, Tanya, Gabrielle Lessard, and Avideh Moussavian, "Overview of Immigrant Eligibility for Federal Programs." National Immigration Law Center, October 2021, Available at https://www.nilc.org/issues/economic-support/overview-immeligfedprograms/.
- Minoff, Elisa, et al. "The Lasting Legacy of Exclusion: How the Law that Brought Us Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Excluded Immigrant Families & Institutionalized Racism in our Social Support System." Center for the Study of Social Policy, and Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, August 2021. Available at https://cssp.org/resource/the-lasting-legacy-of-exclusion/.
- "Coverage for Lawfully Present Citizens." <u>Healthcare.gov</u>, retrieved 17 May 2023. Available at https://www.healthcare.gov/immigrants/lawfully-present-immigrants/.
- Minoff, Elisa, et al. "The Lasting Legacy of Exclusion: How the Law that Brought Us Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Excluded Immigrant Families & Institutionalized Racism in our Social Support System." Center for the Study of Social Policy, and Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, August 2021. Available at https://cssp.org/resource/the-lasting-legacy-of-exclusion/.

- 115 Ibid.
- 116 Rosenbaum, Sarah. "Déjà Vu All Over Again: Congress's Repeated Attempts to Create Work Requirements in Medicaid." Commonwealth Fund, 27 April 2023. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2023/deja-vu-all-over-again-congresss-repeated-attempts-create-work-requirements-medicaid.
- 117 CCFadmin. "Racial Health Inequities and Medicaid Work Requirements."

 Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 2 June 2020. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2020/06/02/racial-health-inequities-and-work-requirements/
- 118 Grant, Kali, et al. "Unworkable & Unwise: Conditioning Access to Programs that Ensure a Basic Foundation for Families on Work Requirements." Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, 31 January 2019. Available at https://www.georgetownpoverty.org/issues/unworkable-and-unwise/.
- "Medicaid Demonstrations: Actions Needed to Address Weaknesses in Oversight of Costs to Administer Work Requirements" U.S. Government Accountability Office, 1 October 2019. Available at https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-20-149.
- 120 "FACT SHEET: Medicaid Requirements Would Jeopardize Health Coverage and Access to Care for 21 Million Americans." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, retrieved 17 May 2023. Available at "https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/national-work-requirements-fact-sheet.pdf.
- Herd, Pamela, and Donald P. Moynihan. "Administrative Burden: Policymaking by Other Means." Russell Sage Foundation, 2018. Available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7758/9781610448789.
- 122 Orgera, Kendal, Robin Rudowitz, and Anthony Damico. "A Closer Look at the Remaining Uninsured Population Eligible for Medicaid and CHIP." KFF, 18 November 2021. Available at https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/a-closer-look-at-the-remaining-uninsured-population-eligible-for-medicaid-and-chip/.
- 123 Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 124 Orgera, Kendal, Robin Rudowitz, and Anthony Damico. "A Closer Look at the Remaining Uninsured Population Eligible for Medicaid and CHIP." KFF, 18 November 2021. Available at https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/a-closer-look-at-the-remaining-uninsured-population-eligible-for-medicaid-and-chip/.
- 125 Arbogast, Iris, Anna Chorniy, and Janet Currie. "Administrative Burdens and Child Medicaid Enrollments." Northwestern Institute for Policy Research, 6 December 2022. Working paper. Available at https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/working-papers/2022/wp-22-49.pdf.
- 126 Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 127 Arbogast, Iris, Anna Chorniy, and Janet Currie. "Administrative Burdens and Child Medicaid Enrollments." Northwestern Institute for Policy Research, 6 December 2022. Working paper. Available at https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/working-papers/2022/wp-22-49.pdf.
- 128 Arbogast, Iris, Anna Chorniy, and Janet Currie. "Administrative Burdens and Child Medicaid Enrollments." Northwestern Institute for Policy Research, 6 December 2022. Working paper. Available at https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/working-papers/2022/wp-22-49.pdf.
- 129 Artiga, Samantha, and Olivia Pham. "Recent Medicaid/CHIP Enrollment Declines and Barriers to Maintaning Coverage." KFF, 24 September 2019. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/recent-medicaid-chip-enrollmentdeclines-and-barriers-to-maintaining-coverage/.

- Musumeci, MaryBeth, Robin Rudowitz, and Barbara Lyons. "Medicaid Work Requirements in Arkansas: Experience and Perspectives of Enrollees." KFF, 18 December 2018. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/medicaid-work-requirements-in-arkansas-experience-and-perspectives-of-enrollees-issue-brief/.
- 131 Boozang, Patricia, et al. "Maintaining Medicaid and CHIP Coverage Amid Postal Delays and Housing Displacements." State Health & Value Strategies, 24 September 2020. Available at https://www.shvs.org/maintaining-medicaid-and-chip-coverage-amid-postal-delays-and-housing-displacements/.
- Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 133 Artiga, Samantha, and Olivia Pham. "Recent Medicaid/Chip Enrollment Declines and Barriers to Maintaining Coverage." KFF, 24 September 2019. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/recent-medicaid-chip-enrollmentdeclines-and-barriers-to-maintaining-coverage/.
- 134 Rudowitz, Robin, Samantha Artiga, and Rachel Arguello. "Children's Health Coverage: Medicaid, CHIP, and the ACA." KFF, 26 March 2014. Available at https://www.kff.org/health-reform/issue-brief/childrens-health-coveragemedicaid-chip-and-the-aca/.
- Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- Shakesprere, Jessica, Batia Katz, and Pamela Loprest. "Racial Equity and Job Quality: Causes Behind Racial Disparities and Possibilities to Address Them."
 Urban Institute, September 2021. Available at https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/104761/racial-equity-and-job-quality.pdf.
- 137 Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- Rubin, Inna, Jesse Cross-Call, and Gideon Lukens. "Medicaid Expansion: Frequently Asked Questions." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 16 June 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/medicaid-expansion-frequently-asked-questions.
- 139 Brown, Charles, Steven B. Fisher, and Phyllis Resnick. "Assessing the Economic and Budgetary Impact of Medicaid Expansion in Colorado." Colorado Health Institute, June 2016. Available at https://www.coloradohealthinstitute.org/sites/default/files/file_attachments/MK_Expansion_Report_O.pdf.
- 140 Ku, Leighton, and Erin Brantley. "The Economic and Employment Effects of Medicaid Expansion Under the American Rescue Plan." Commonwealth Fund, 20 May 2021. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2021/may/economic-employment-effects-medicaid-expansion-under-aro.
- 141 Lukens, Gideon, and Breanna Sharer. "Closing Medicaid Coverage Gap Would Help Diverse Group and Narrow Racial Disparities." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 14 June 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/closing-medicaid-coverage-gap-would-help-diverse-group-and-narrow-racial.
- 142 Rudowitz, Robin, et al.. "How Many Uninsured Are in the Coverage Gap and How Many Could Be Eligible if All States Adopted the Medicaid Expansion?" KFF, 31 March 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/how-many-uninsured-are-in-the-coverage-gap-and-how-many-could-be-eligible-if-all-states-adopted-the-medicaid-expansion).
- 143 Muñoz-Price, L. Silvia, et al. "Racial Disparities in Incidence and Outcomes Among Patients with Covid-19." JAMA Network Open, 3(9), 2020. Available at https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21892.

- 144 Rudowitz, Robin, et al. "How Many Uninsured Are in the Coverage Gap and How Many Could Be Eligible if All States Adopted the Medicaid Expansion?" KFF, 31 March 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/how-many-uninsured-are-in-the-coverage-gap-and-how-many-could-be-eligible-if-all-states-adopted-the-medicaid-expansion/.
- Morcelle, Madeline. "Closing the Medicaid Coverage Gap: Preventing a Separate and Unequal Result." National Health Law Program, 28 June 2021. Available at https://healthlaw.org/resource/closing-the-medicaid-coverage-gap-preventing-a-separate-and-unequal-result/.
- 146 Brooks, Tricia. "CHIP Funding Has Been Extended, What's Next For Children's Health Coverage?" Health Affairs Blog, 30 January 2018. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/chip-funding-has-been-extended-s-next-children-s-health-coverage/.
- "State Plans for CHIP as Federal CHIP Funds Run Out." KFF, 6 December 2017. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/fact-sheet/state-plans-for-chip-as-federal-chip-funds-run-out/.
- 148 Brooks, Tricia. "CHIP Funding Has Been Extended, What's Next For Children's Health Coverage?" Health Affairs Blog, 30 January 2018. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/chip-funding-has-been-extended-s-next-children-s-health-coverage/.
- "State Plans for CHIP as Federal CHIP Funds Run Out." KFF, 6 December 207. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/fact-sheet/state-plans-for-chip-as-federal-chip-funds-run-out/.
- Alker, Joan, and Anne Dwyer. "Next Steps for the Children's Health Insurance Program." Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, August 2021. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/CHIP-Next-Steps fix 10-8.pdf.
- 151 Ibid.
- 152 Ford, Tiffany N., and Jamila Michener. "Medicaid Reimbursement Rates Are a Racial Justice Issue." Commonwealth Fund, June 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/medicaid-reimbursement-rates-are-racial-justice-issue.
- 153 Alexander, Diane, and Molly Schnell. "The Impacts of Physician Payments on Patient Access, Use, and Health." National Bureau of Economic Research, July 2019. Available at https://www.nber.org/papers/w26095.
- 154 Ford, Tiffany N., and Jamila Michener. "Medicaid Reimbursement Rates Are a Racial Justice Issue." Commonwealth Fund, 16 June 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/medicaid-reimbursement-rates-are-racial-justice-issue.
- 155 Alexander, Diane, and Molly Schnell. "The Impacts of Physician Payments on Patient Access, Use, and Health." National Bureau of Economic Research, July 2019. Available at https://www.nber.org/papers/w26095.
- 156 Ibid.
- 157 Sloane, Philip D., et al. "Addressing Systemic Racism in Nursing Homes: A Time for Action." Journal of Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Medicine, 22(4):886-892, 25 March 2021. Available at https://www.jamda.com/article/S1525-8610(21)00243-7/pdf
- 158 "Medicaid Postpartum Coverage Extension Tracker." KFF, 8 December 2022. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-postpartum-coverage-extension-tracker/.
- "Medicaid and CHIP Income Eligibility Limits for Pregnant Women as a Percent of the Federal Poverty Level." KFF, 1 January 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/health-reform/state-indicator/medicaid-and-chip-income-eligibility-limits-for-pregnant-women-as-a-percent-of-the-federal-poverty-level/.
- "Medicaid Postpartum Coverage Extension Tracker." KFF, 15 June 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-postpartumcoverage-extension-tracker/.

- "Can Immigrants Enroll in Medicaid or Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Coverage?" KFF, 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/faqs/faqs-health-insurance-marketplace-and-the-aca/can-immigrants-enroll-in-medicaid-or-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-coverage/.
- "Coverage for Lawfully Present Immigrants." <u>Healthcare.gov</u>, 2023. Available at https://www.healthcare.gov/immigrants/lawfully-present-immigrants/.
- "Can Immigrants Enroll in Medicaid or Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Coverage?" KFF, 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/fags/fags-health-insurance-marketplace-and-the-aca/can-immigrants-enroll-in-medicaid-or-childrens-health-insurance-program-chip-coverage/.
- "Health Coverage and Care of Immigrants." KFF, 20 December 2022. Available at https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/fact-sheet/healthcoverage-and-care-of-immigrants/.
- 165 Ibid.
- Haley, Jennifer M., et al. "Uninsurance Rose among Children and Parents in 2019." Urban Institute, July 2021. Available at https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/104547/uninsurance-rose-among-children-and-parents-in-2019.pdf.
- Minoff, Elisa, et al. "The Lasting Legacy of Exclusion: How the Law that Brought Us Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Excluded Immigrant Families & Institutionalized Racism in our Social Support System." Center for the Study of Social Policy, and Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, August 2021. Available at https://cssp.org/resource/the-lasting-legacy-of-exclusion/.
- 168 S.4311. 117th Congress, introduced 25 May 2022. Available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/senate-bill/4311.
- "Medicaid and CHIP Coverage of Lawfully Residing Children and Pregnant Women." Medicaid, 9 July 2021. Available at https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/enrollment-strategies/medicaid-and-chip-coverage-lawfully-residing-children-pregnant-women.
- 170 Ibid.
- 171 "Pregnant Individual." Department of Health Care Finance. Available at https://dhcf.dc.gov/service/pregnant-individual.
- 172 "Health Coverage and Care of Immigrants." KFF, 20 December 2022. Available at https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/fact-sheet/health-coverage-and-care-of-immigrants/.
- 173 Ibid.
- 174 "Young Adult Expansion." California Department of Health Care Services, 2020. https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/medi-cal/eligibility/Pages/YoungAdultExp. aspx.
- 175 "Governor Newsom Signs Into Law First-in-the-Nation Expansion of Medi-Cal to Undocumented Californians Age 50 and Over, Bold Initiatives to Advance More Equitable and Prevention-Focused Health Care." Office of Governor Gavin Newsom, 27 July 2021. Available at <a href="https://www.gov.ca.gov/2021/07/27/governor-newsom-signs-into-law-first-in-the-nation-expansion-of-medi-cal-to-undocumented-californians-age-50-and-over-bold-initiatives-to-advance-more-equitable-and-prevention-focused-health-care/.
- 176 Garfield, Rachel, et al. "Medicaid Enrollment Churn and Implications for Continuous Coverage Policies." KFF, 14 December 2021. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-enrollment-churn-and-implications-for-continuous-coverage-policies/.
- 177 Artiga, Samantha, and Olivia Pham. "Recent Medicaid/Chip Enrollment Declines and Barriers to Maintaining Coverage." KFF, 24 September 2019. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/recent-medicaid-chip-enrollmentdeclines-and-barriers-to-maintaining-coverage/.
- 178 Garfield, Rachel, et al. "Medicaid Enrollment Churn and Implications for Continuous Coverage Policies." KFF, 14 December 2021. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-enrollment-churn-and-implications-for-continuous-coverage-policies/.

- Alker, Joan, and Aubrianna Osorio. "Why Is Medicaid/Chip Continuous Eligibility so Important for Kids?" Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 8 October 2021. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2021/10/08/why-is-medicaid-chip-continuous-eligibility-so-important-for-kids/.
- "State Adoption of 12-Month Continuous Eligibility for Children's Medicaid and CHIP." KFF, 1 January 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/health-reform/state-indicator/state-adoption-of-12-month-continuous-eligibility-for-childrens-medicaid-and-chip/.
- 181 Brooks, Tricia, et al. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Renewal Policies as States Prepare for the Unwinding of the Pandemic-Era Continuous Enrollment Provision." KFF, 4 April 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/medicaid-and-chip-eligibility-enrollment-and-renewal-policies-as-states-prepare-for-the-unwinding-of-the-pandemic-era-continuous-enrollment-provision-report/.
- 182 "Oregon Health Plan Approval." Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 7 November 2022. Available at https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/section-1115-demo/demonstration-and-waiver-list/82956.
- 183 Brooks, Tricia, et al. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Renewal Policies as States Prepare for the Unwinding of the Pandemic-Era Continuous Enrollment Provision." KFF, 4 April 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/medicaid-and-chip-eligibility-enrollment-and-renewal-policies-as-states-prepare-for-the-unwinding-of-the-pandemic-era-continuous-enrollment-provision-report/.
- 184 Alker, Joan. "Which Parents Would Still be Covered if Medicaid Expansion Goes Away?" Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 14 June 2017. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2017/06/14/what-parents-would-still-be-covered-if-medicaid-expansion-goes-away/.
- 185 Hope, Cathy. "Medicaid and CHIP Continuous Coverage for Children." Georgetown University Center For Children and Families, 7 October 2022. Available at https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2022/10/07/medicaid-and-chip-continuous-coverage-for-children/.
- Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 187 Ibid.
- 188 Brooks, Tricia, et al. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Cost Sharing Policies as of January 2020: Findings from a 50-State Survey." KFF, 26 March 2020. Available at https://www.kff.org/report-section/medicaid-and-chip-eligibility-enrollment-and-cost-sharing-policies-as-of-january-2020-findings-from-a-50-state-survey-executive-summary/.
- 189 "Streamlining Eligibility & Enrollment Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM)." Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 31 August 2022. Available at https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/streamlining-eligibility-enrollment-notice-propose-rulemaking-nprm.
- 190 Ibid.
- 191 Ibid.
- "Using SNAP Data for Medicaid Renewals Can Keep Eligible Beneficiaries Enrolled." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, September 2020. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/using-snap-data-for-medicaid-renewals-can-keep-eligible-beneficiaries-enrolled.
- 193 Ibid
- 194 Brooks, Tricia, et al. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Cost Sharing Policies as of January 2020: Findings from a 50-State Survey." KFF, 26 March 2020. Available at https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/report/medicaidand-chip-eligibility-enrollment-and-cost-sharing-policies-as-of-january-2020findings-from-a-50-state-survey/.

- 95 Edwards, Elizabeth. "Preventing Harm from Automated Decision-Making Systems in Medicaid." National Health Law Program, 14 June 2021. Available at https://healthlaw.org/preventing-harm-from-automated-decision-making-systems-in-medicaid/.
- 196 Ibid.
- 197 Artiga, Samantha, and Olivia Pham. "Recent Medicaid/CHIP Enrollment Declines and Barriers to Maintaining Coverage." KFF, 24 September 2019. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/recent-medicaid-chip-enrollmentdeclines-and-barriers-to-maintaining-coverage/.
- 198 Wikle, Suzanne, et al. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 199 Ku, Leighton, Erika Steinmetz, and Tyler Bysshe. "Continuity of Medicaid Coverage in an Era of Transition." Association for Community Affiliated Plans, 1 November 2015. Available at http://www.communityplans.net/Portals/0/Policy/Medicaid/GW ContinuityInAnEraOfTransition 11-01-15.pdf.
- 200 Wagner, Jennifer, and Judith Solomon. "Continuous Eligibility Keeps People Insured and Reduces Costs." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 4 May 2021. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/continuous-eligibility-keeps-people-insured-and-reduces-costs.
- 201 Streamlining Eligibility & Enrollment Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM)." Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 31 August 2022. Available at https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/streamlining-eligibilityenrollment-notice-propose-rulemaking-nprm.
- 202 Wikle, Suzanne, et al.. "States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 19 July 2022. Available at https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-advance-health-and-racial.
- 203 "Online Applications for Medicaid and/or CHIP: An Overview of Current Capabilities and Opportunities for Improvement." KFF, June 2011. Available at https://www.kff.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/8203.pdf.
- 204 "Internet/Broadband Fact Sheet." Pew Research Center, 7 April 2021. Available at https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/internet-broadband/?menultem=20864b5f-4589-4e03-aad1-c1737fbd07cb.
- 205 Palmer, Dustin. "The Missed Opportunity in Online Benefits Applications: Mobile First." Code for America, 3 April 2019, Available at https://codeforamerica.org/news/the-missed-opportunity-in-online-benefits-applications-mobile-first/.
- 206 Michener, Jamila, and Tiffany N. Ford. "Engaging Voice to Support Racially Equitable Policymaking." Commonwealth Fund, October 4 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/engaging-voice-supportracially-equitable-policymaking.
- 207 Michener, Jamila. "A Racial Equity Framework for Assessing Health Policy." Commonwealth Fund, 20 January 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2022/jan/racial-equity-framework-assessing-health-policy.
- 208 Schreiber, Michelle, et al. "The CMS National Quality Strategy: A Person-Centered Approach to Improving Quality." Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 6 June 2022. Available at https://www.cms.gov/blog/cms-national-quality-strategy-person-centered-approach-improving-quality.
- 209 Ibid.
- 210 Lewis, Corinne, et al.. "Value-Based Care: What It Is, and Why It's Needed." The Commonwealth Fund, 7 February 2023. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/explainer/2023/feb/value-based-care-what-it-is-why-its-needed.
- 211 Michener, Jamila, and Tiffany N. Ford. "Engaging Voice to Support Racially Equitable Policymaking." Commonwealth Fund, 4 October 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/engaging-voice-supportracially-equitable-policymaking.

- 212 "Chapter 2: Planning for Collaboration, Resources for Collaboration and Power Sharing Between Government Agencies and Community Power-Building Organizations." Human Impact Partners, June 2022. Available at https://humanimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/HIP-Set1-Resources-for-Collaboration-and-Power-Sharing-.pdf.
- 213 "Building Racial Equity into the Walls of Minnesota Medicaid: A Focus on U.S-born Black Minnesotans." Department of Health and Human Services, retrieved 17 May 2023. Available at https://www.house.mn.gov/comm/docs/E2QEKrxUBEqBmbBr8Oxzzg.pdf.
- 214 Allen, Eva H., et al.. "Leveraging Community Expertise to Advance Health Equity." Urban Institute, July 2021. Available at https://www.urban.org/research/publication/leveraging-community-expertise-advance-health-equity.
- 215 Chomilo, Nathan T., et al. "Building Racial Equity into the Walls of Minnesota Medicaid." February 2022, Minnesota Department of Human Services: A Focus on U.S.-Born Black Minnesotans." Available at https://edocs.dhs.state.mn.us/lfserver/Public/DHS-8209A-ENG.
- 216 Allen, Eva H., et al. "Leveraging Community Expertise to Advance Health Equity." Urban Institute, July 2021. Available at https://www.urban.org/research/ publication/leveraging-community-expertise-advance-health-equity.
- 217 Michener, Jamila, and Tiffany N. Ford. "Engaging Voice to Support Racially Equitable Policymaking." Commonwealth Fund, 4 October 2022. Available at https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/engaging-voice-support-racially-equitable-policymaking.
- 218 Chomilo, Nathan T. "Building Racial Equity into the Walls of Minnesota Medicaid: A focus on U.S-born Black Minnesotans." Department of Health and Human Services, February 2022. Available at https://edocs.dhs.state.mn.us/lfserver/Public/DHS-8209A-ENG.
- 219 "Report to Congress: The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services' Evaluation of Community-Based Wellness and Prevention Programs under Section 4202 (b) of the Affordable Care Act." Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services, n.d. Available at https://innovation.cms.gov/files/reports/communitywellnessrtc.pdf.
- 220 Parekh, Anand, and Robert Schreiber. "How Community-Based Organizations Can Support Value-Driven Health Care." Forefront Group, 2015. Available at https://doi.org/10.1377/forefront.20150710.049256.
- 221 "Medicaid Coverage of Community Health Worker Services." Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, April 2022. Available at https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Medicaid-coverage-of-community-health-worker-services-1.pdf.
- 222 Ibid
- 223 Ibe, Chidinma A., Debra Hickman and Lisa A. Cooper. "To Advance Health Equity During COVID-19 and Beyond, Elevate and Support Community Health Workers." JAMA Health Forum, 2(7), July 2021. Available at https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.2724.
- 224 Haldar, Sweta, and Elizabeth Hinton. "State Policies for Expanding Medicaid Coverage of Community Health Worker (CHW) Services." KFF, 23 January 2023. Available at https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/state-policies-for-expanding-medicaid-coverage-of-community-health-worker-chw-services/.

CENTER ON POVERTY and INEQUALITY

GEORGETOWN LAW